No. 89903-9

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals No. 69556-8-I

RAYMOND GROVE,

Petitioner,

v.

PEACEHEALTH ST. JOSEPH HOSPITAL,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Kevin Keefe, WSBA #11437 1415 East Jefferson Street Seattle, Washington 98122 Telephone: (206) 325-9390 Ian S. Birk, WSBA #31431 Benjamin Gould, WSBA #44093 KELLER ROHRBACK L.L.P. 1201 Third Avenue, Suite 3200 Seattle, Washington 98101 Telephone: (206) 623-1900

Attorneys for Petitioner

CONFLEX PEALS DIVI

INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF GROUNDS FOR REVIEW

Petitioner Raymond Grove suffered permanent injury when he developed compartment syndrome following a surgery performed by Dr. Richard Leone, an employee of Respondent PeaceHealth St. Joseph Hospital (PeaceHealth). While Grove was recovering from the surgery, Dr. Leone handed off responsibility for Grove's care to two successive surgeons with whom he practiced, also employees of PeaceHealth. Grove offered evidence at trial showing that the standard of care required his surgeons to monitor for and timely diagnose compartment syndrome. The trial court instructed the jury that PeaceHealth could act only through its employees, that it was Grove's burden to prove negligence, proximate cause, and damages, and that the jury was to determine whether the "defendant"—PeaceHealth—was at fault. PeaceHealth assigned no error to these instructions. The jury returned a verdict for Grove against PeaceHealth for \$583,000.

The lower courts, however, overturned the verdict. In a published opinion, the Court of Appeals held that Grove had not proven his case because he had not "implicat[ed] a particular individual" as liable for his injury, and instead had simply implicated a "team" of providers. App. A at 12. Under our medical negligence statute, the court held, injured patients are required to implicate a particular individual as liable for their injuries.

This Court should grant review for two reasons.

- 1. Both the proper test to be employed in reviewing the verdict and the proper outcome are controlled by *Hansch v. Hackett*, 190 Wash. 97, 66 P.2d 1129 (1937). In Hansch, much like here, a plaintiff alleged failure to monitor and timely diagnose against four employees of a defendant clinic. The jury returned a verdict exonerating one employee who was also named as a party but finding liability by the defendant clinic. This court explained that the verdict had to be upheld if the evidence was sufficient to permit the conclusion that any one or more of the implicated employees was at fault. The court upheld the verdict in Hansch because "the charge and the proof is such as to permit the jury to find any one or more of four employees to be guilty." Id. at 102. Here too, the verdict must be upheld because Grove's evidence permits the conclusion that one or more of the successive surgeons was at fault. The Court of Appeals, however, abrogated *Hansch*, holding that "*Hansch* no longer properly states the law" because, according to the Court of Appeals, it conflicts with today's medical negligence statute, RCW 7.70.040. App. A at 17. This holding, alone, warrants review.
- **2.** In abrogating *Hansch*, the Court of Appeals also imposed a new standard of proof on injured patients that neither RCW 7.70.040 nor any other Washington law imposes. RCW 7.70.040, Washington's medical

negligence statute, defines the standard of care according to a provider's "profession or class," requiring a plaintiff to prove that the provider "failed to exercise the degree of care, skill, and learning expected of a reasonably prudent health care provider . . . in the profession or class to which he or she belongs." RCW 7.70.040(1). As the Court of Appeals itself acknowledged, Grove's evidence came from expert witness surgeons and was always directed to the standard of care of a surgeon. This was the common standard of care that applied to all three of Grove's surgeons. Despite this, the Court of Appeals interpreted RCW 7.70.040 to demand that Grove select "a particular individual" as the liable one, even though Grove contended that *all three* surgeons had failed to timely diagnose his condition. App. A at 12. Because the evidence permitted the jury to find that one or more of the surgeons violated the standard of care of their "profession or class," the verdict must be upheld. The Court of Appeals erred by imposing the additional requirement that Grove select one specific individual to blame, when in reality he blamed all three.

IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Raymond Grove, Plaintiff below, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review.

CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

A copy of the published Court of Appeals decision, filed October 28, 2013, is attached as Appendix A to this Petition. Grove moved for reconsideration of that decision. The Court of Appeals denied Grove's motion on January 8, 2014.

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

When a plaintiff identifies a number of health care providers, supplies expert testimony as to the common standard of care that applies to all of them, and adduces evidence that one or more of them breached that standard of care and proximately caused the plaintiff's injury, may a jury find the providers' principal vicariously liable under RCW 7.70.040?

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEDURE

The jury returned a verdict for Grove. The facts are recited, as they must be, in the light most favorable to Grove, with all of his evidence taken as true and all inferences drawn in his favor. *See, e.g., Queen City Farms, Inc. v. Cent. Nat'l Ins. Co. of Omaha*, 126 Wn.2d 50, 98–99, 882 P.2d 703 (1994).

I. Grove underwent a surgery that required his surgeons to monitor him postoperatively for compartment syndrome.

Grove underwent heart surgery at PeaceHealth on December 21, 2006. App. A at 2. Dr. Leone performed the surgery and was responsible

for Grove's postoperative care in the first few days following the surgery.

Id.

Grove established that a surgery of his kind obligated his surgeon to monitor for and timely diagnose compartment syndrome, a known complication from a long surgery, and one that causes swelling, loss of adequate blood flow and oxygenation, and eventually muscle death. *Id.* at 3; Ghidella RP¹ 11:4–15. If caught early, compartment syndrome is completely reversible; if not, the damage is irreversible. App. A at 4.

One of Grove's expert witnesses, Dr. Sean Ghidella, testified about what a surgeon must do to monitor a patient for compartment syndrome. Monitoring involves two actions. First, a surgeon must talk to the patient "[w]hen he [is] awake, alert, cognizant, and not too heavily medicated," and ask whether the patient is experiencing any of the symptoms of compartment syndrome. Ghidella RP 9:24–10:2. Second—and especially if the patient is sedated or intubated, as Grove was here for some time—the surgeon must engage in "at least the simple act of squeezing the leg to test for how firm or tense the compartments [are], and ranging the leg for responses to passive motion." *Id.* at 10:6–8. "[A]ny clinician that is involved in work where there's [compartment syndrome] as a potential

Trial testimony will be cited using the last name of the witness.

complication" should be trained in this monitoring practice, Dr. Ghidella testified. *Id.* at 18:17–20.

II. Dr. Leone transferred responsibility for Grove to two successive surgeons.

Grove remained at the hospital following his surgery for several days due to complications. Dr. Leone would end up transferring responsibility for Grove's care to two other cardiothoracic surgeons employed by PeaceHealth, Dr. Edward Zech and Dr. James Douglas.

Leone RP at 2:12–14, 4:3–4; Zech RP at 2:12–19; Douglas RP at 2:18–24.

PeaceHealth's surgeons testified to what they called their "team" approach at trial. If one of the surgeons went out of town, another of the surgeons "would take over seeing his patients." Zech RP at 5:2–3. This "designated hitter" would then have "responsibility for everybody we had in our service in the hospital." *Id.* at 5:6–8. Thus, for example, when Dr. Douglas was the primary physician, he "followed [Grove] clinically," "examined him," "look[ed] at his labs," "discuss[ed] things with his consultants," "wr[o]te orders as appropriate," and generally was "one of the primary care givers for the patient." Douglas RP at 76:15–18. Thus, at least one of the surgeons was always in charge of monitoring Grove.

PeaceHealth and the surgeons did not document in Grove's medical records their successive turns in charge of Grove's care. Dr. Zech

admitted that responsibility can shift "in the blink of an eye," but when asked whether there was "anything in the records that shows that that actually occurred," Dr. Zech answered, "[n]ot specifically that I'm aware of." Zech RP at 20:9–15. Dr. Zech testified that he was "chagrined" about the fact that "there's no progress notes from [him] during those days that [he was] supposedly at the helm for Mr. Grove." *Id.* at 22:6–10. Dr. Zech claimed that he "agonized" over not leaving proper records. *Id.* at 44:4–7. Similarly, even though Dr. Douglas eventually took over responsibility for Grove's care, "there's nothing written in the chart that he did anything." Adams RP at 48:18–19. It was supposedly a sign posted at the hospital—not anything in the medical records—that identified the surgeon on call. Douglas RP at 21:9–12.

III. Grove developed compartment syndrome and suffered permanent injury as a result.

On December 29, eight days after Grove's surgery, a physician's assistant, Shane Spears, noted in writing that Grove's left calf was swollen, painful to the touch, and red in color, and that Grove had difficulty bending both ankles, "but it was worse on the left." App. A at 3. By then, Dr. Douglas was in charge. Although Grove was already on antibiotics, Dr. Douglas suspected that Grove was suffering from cellulitis, a bacterial infection. *Id.* Meanwhile, Dr. Douglas had approved an

ultrasound, which ruled out deep vein thrombosis, the formation of a blood clot in Grove's leg. Douglas RP 44:16–45:19.

Two days later on December 31, Dr. Sara Mostad, an infectious disease specialist, noticed that Grove was unable to bend his foot and was dragging his left toe when he walked. App. A at 3. Dr. Mostad suspected compartment syndrome, and a pressure test indicated that she was right.

Id. Grove underwent surgery to correct the syndrome, but by then it was too late. He sustained permanent damage to his left leg. Id. at 4.

IV. Grove presented substantial evidence that all three PeaceHealth surgeons were negligent.

The medical records did not establish when responsibility for Grove's care was transferred from one surgeon to the next, but the PeaceHealth surgeons' trial testimony did. Dr. Leone testified that he was Grove's primary physician from December 21, until he left for vacation on the 25th. *See* App. A at 2. Once Dr. Leone left for vacation, Dr. Zech took over the care of Grove. Zech RP 6:1–12. Dr. Douglas testified that he took over from Dr. Zech on the 29th. Douglas RP 27:1–2, 32:23–25, 76:8–12.

A. Each PeaceHealth surgeon failed to monitor for and timely diagnose compartment syndrome.

1. Dr. Leone

At trial, Dr. Leone testified that he was familiar enough with compartment syndrome to diagnose it, Leone RP 27:13–20, but he was

impeached by his deposition testimony. There, he had said that "[c]ompartment syndrome is something that needs to be treated, but I really don't remember the specifics of how to diagnose and treat it." *Id.* at 26:18–20. Further, even though Dr. Leone maintained that the hospital made "a big effort to try to document anything accurately" in contemporaneous notes, *id.* at 24:24–25, the notes did not indicate that Dr. Leone had ever performed the required examination of Grove's legs. Instead, the notes merely said that Grove's *feet* were warm with a pulse. *Id.* at 34:3–35:25.

2. Dr. Zech

Dr. Zech admitted that there was "nothing in the records" to show that he actually performed a physical examination of Grove. Zech RP 17:16–18. And while Dr. Zech claimed that whenever he visited patients like Grove, he would "typically examine" and would "actually touch" the patient's extremities, he, just like Dr. Leone, was impeached by his deposition testimony. *Id.* at 14:17–15:10. There, he merely said that he "would have *laid eyes* on everybody" but otherwise accepted the contemporaneous records as accurate. *Id.* at 18:5–19:9 (emphasis added).

3. Dr. Douglas

Another of Grove's expert witnesses, Dr. Carl Adams, criticized Dr. Douglas's failure to diagnose compartment syndrome given what he

knew about Grove's condition on December 29. By that date, Dr. Douglas, through his assistant, had become aware that Grove's left calf had swollen to two to five centimeters larger than the right and had become red and painful. Douglas RP 35:25–36:11, 38:10–39:3. On that date also, Dr. Mostad, Grove's infectious disease specialist, found that it had become harder for Grove to bend his left ankle than his right, and that Grove had an elevated white blood cell count and persistent fever; Dr. Mostad shared information with Dr. Douglas about Grove's condition. *Id.* at 48:6–16, 52:24–53:4. Dr. Adams testified that these were "significant findings" and agreed that they should have "given rise to a suspicion of compartment syndrome," and prompted Dr. Douglas to test the pressure in Grove's left calf—something Dr. Douglas did not do. Adams RP 37:19-38:2; see also id. at 41:2–13. And he agreed that it was "below the standard of care" not to have diagnosed Grove's compartment syndrome given the symptoms on December 29. *Id.* at 40:22–25.

B. Substantial evidence of proximate cause existed as to each surgeon.

Grove's expert Dr. Ghidella testified that the "more likely" time when the compartment syndrome developed was when Grove "was intubated and . . . ventilated with an altered sensorium." Ghidella RP at 54:9–12. This included the immediate postoperative period (when Dr.

Leone was in charge) through the 26th (by which time Dr. Zech was in charge). *Id.* at 54:13–15. Certainly the compartment syndrome had developed by the 29th, the day that Dr. Douglas took over, and the physician's assistant found Grove's calf swollen, painful, and red. *See* App. A at 3. Grove's expert Dr. Ghidella explained, however, that the onset of the compartment syndrome could not be determined with greater precision precisely because of the negligence of the PeaceHealth surgeons:

Q. In your opinion, Doctor, based on your review of your review of these records, had they been operating, the PeaceHealth Hospital personnel attending to Mr. Grove while he was there been operating within the standard of care, would we know closer the approximate time of the onset of the compartment syndrome?

[An objection is made and overruled.]

A. Yes, sir. Had that occurred, I think I may be more able to tell you with better accuracy as to when exactly it occurred.

Ghidella RP 40:6-21.

V. The jury returned a verdict for Grove.

The trial court instructed the jury that PeaceHealth could act only through its employees. App. A at 8. The trial court further instructed that a "physician, surgeon or health care provider owes to the patient a duty to comply with the standard of care for one of the profession or class to which he or she belongs." *Id*. The trial court instructed the jury that Grove was required to prove that "the defendant"—which was PeaceHealth—

failed to follow the "applicable standard of care." CP 332 (Jury Instruction 6). Finally, the verdict form asked whether "the defendant" was negligent. App. A at 9 n.14. PeaceHealth has not assigned error to either the instructions or the verdict form. PeaceHealth did not propose special interrogatories to distinguish the jury's findings as to individual PeaceHealth employees. The jury returned a verdict for Grove.

The trial court set aside the verdict, however, upon the view that Grove had to implicate a particular individual rather than the PeaceHealth "team." App. A at 9. The Court of Appeals affirmed on the same basis.

ARGUMENT

I. The decision below conflicts with this Court's decision in Hansch v. Hackett.

The analysis in this case is governed by this Court's decision in Hansch v. Hackett. There, the patient's widower sued a physician, Dr. Hackett, and his employer, a medical clinic. The widower claimed that Dr. Hackett and three additional clinic employees—one other physician and two nurses—failed to diagnose eclampsia and initiate proper treatment before it caused the patient's death. 190 Wash. at 100–02. The jury returned a verdict exonerating Dr. Hackett but finding the clinic liable. Id. at 98. Just as here, while Dr. Hackett had originally been in charge of the patient's care, "Dr. Hackett did not treat Mrs. Hansch after she came to the hospital, but turned her case over to [the other physician]." Id. at 101.

This court explained that because the patient had come under the care of successive providers, "[t]here was therefore a wide open opportunity" for the jury to find that the first provider was not negligent—as it did—but that one or more of the successive providers were. *Id.* The court explained that there was evidence to support findings that the other physician was negligent, and that either of the two nurses was negligent. *Id.* at 101–02. The only requirement for upholding a verdict in these circumstances is that "the charge and the proof is such as to permit the jury to find any one or more of four employees to be guilty." *Id.* at 102.

But the Court of Appeals here concluded that "*Hansch* no longer properly states the law" because today, RCW 7.70.040 requires expert testimony "to establish the standard of care applicable to 'a health care provider' as a member of a particular 'profession or class.'" App. A at 17 (quoting RCW 7.70.040(1)). The Court of Appeals was correct about the substantive requirements of RCW 7.70.040, but incorrect about its effect on the holding of *Hansch*.

RCW 7.70.040 requires that the plaintiff establish a standard of care with respect to a "profession or class," but here even the Court of Appeals acknowledged that Grove had established the surgeons' standard of care. As the Court of Appeals noted, Grove's expert Dr. Adams testified to the standard of care of "the cardiovascular surgeon who is in

charge of the patient's care." App. A at 7 (quotation omitted). RCW 7.70.040 is concerned with the *substantive* proof a plaintiff must make—and that proof was satisfied as to one or more of Grove's three surgeons. *See id.* at 14 (assuming that Grove's "articulation of the standard of care" covered the surgeons).

Hansch, on the other hand, sets out a procedural rule governing the review of a verdict for substantial evidence. The issue in Hansch was whether substantial evidence existed to establish negligence by any of the clinic employees so as to support the verdict. The substantive form that such evidence was required to take was not at issue. Hansch simply held that the verdict had to be upheld if a jury "might have" or "could have" found that any one of the clinic employees was negligent. Id. at 101–02. The same is true here. The procedural rule of Hansch is no different today than it was when it was first decided. Instead of following that procedure, however, the Court of Appeals undertook to overrule Hansch and announce a new rule that a plaintiff must select one physician to blame even when a whole group of physicians is responsible.

The Court of Appeals' underlying concern, it seems, was that

Grove's standard-of-care evidence covered only the three surgeons and

not other, nonphysician employees of PeaceHealth. It assumed that

"Grove's articulation of the standard of care covered" the surgeons, App.

A at 14, but was concerned that it did not cover, for example, nurses or physicians' assistants. *See id.* at 13. But that concern just underscores the court's disregard of *Hansch*. Under *Hansch*, the question is not whether the jury lacked evidence to inculpate *some* employees of the defendant, but whether it possessed evidence to find *at least one* employee liable. Because the jury here had such evidence, the decision below conflicts with *Hansch* and merits review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

II. The decision below raises issues of substantial public interest by requiring a patient treated by more than one provider to implicate one specific individual provider as liable under RCW 7.70.040.

Washington's medical negligence statute requires a plaintiff to prove that a "health care provider failed to exercise that degree of care, skill, and learning expected of a reasonably prudent health care provider at that time in the profession or class to which he or she belongs, in the state of Washington, acting in the same or similar circumstances." RCW 7.70.040(1). The Court of Appeals believed that "[b]y not implicating a particular individual" as liable for his injury, "Grove failed to prove the standard of care for the relevant 'health care provider,'" as required by RCW 7.70.040(1). App. A at 12. The court also thought that by failing to implicate a particular individual, Grove had failed to prove proximate causation, as required by RCW 7.70.040(2). *Id.* at 14.

Both of these conclusions are wrong—and both proceed from the same root error. According to the Court of Appeals, Grove's case asks whether "PeaceHealth can be held vicariously liable for the negligence of the 'team' as a unit or whether Grove needed to implicate a specific individual." Id. at 11 (emphasis added). This analysis sets up a false dichotomy between implicating a team as a unit and implicating a specific individual. Grove did not implicate a team as a unit. He did not implicate a specific individual. He implicated more than one individual. By equating the implication of more than one individual with the implication of a "team" as an undifferentiated whole, the decision below will erect needless barriers for the many medical negligence plaintiffs whose claims require them to implicate a group of medical providers as responsible.

A. The Court of Appeals wrongly concluded that by implicating more than one individual surgeon, Grove had failed to prove breach of the standard of care.

The Court of Appeals thought that Grove had failed to prove the applicable standard of care or its breach. According to the court, Grove had implicated an entire "team" as a unit, and because the team included providers that belonged to more than one "profession or class," Grove failed to prove that the there had been a breach of the standard of care "of a reasonably prudent health care provider . . . in the profession or class to which he or she belongs." RCW 7.70.040(1); see App. A at 13.

The Court of Appeals' own recounting of trial testimony disproves this analysis. It shows that Grove's experts were testifying as to the standard of care that bound more than one surgeon, but were not testifying as to the standard of care that bound the team as a unit. As the Court of Appeals recognized, Dr. Adams, one of Grove's two experts, testified "that it was his expert opinion that 'the cardiovascular surgeon who is in charge of the patient's care failed to meet the standard of care that one would expect." App. A at 7; *see also id.* at 14 (recognizing that Grove's proof of the standard of care covered his surgeons). The Court of Appeals got these facts right. *See* Adams RP 36:15–37:9; Ghidella RP 22:16–24:16.

The lower court went wrong, though, by equating the implication of a number of individual providers bound by the same standard of care with the implication of a "team" as a unit. This novel equation is illogical, since it forgets that a plaintiff can implicate more than one provider without implicating a team as a unit. Unsurprisingly, therefore, the Court of Appeals failed to support its new standard of proof with any Washington authority, and Grove can find none to support it either.

B. The Court of Appeals wrongly concluded that by implicating more than one individual surgeon, Grove had failed to prove proximate causation.

The Court of Appeals also concluded that Grove had failed to prove proximate cause, as required by RCW 7.70.040(2). According to the Court of Appeals, by failing to implicate one particular individual, Grove "did not present evidence that but for any one of those particular individuals' failure to adhere to the standard of care, he would not have been injured." App. A at 14. This analysis again confuses proof directed at more than one individual provider with proof directed at a team as a unit.

By directing his proof to three individual surgeons that took care of him one after the other, Grove proved proximate cause. Grove proved that all of the three surgeons failed to do what was necessary to diagnose compartment syndrome. Because Dr. Ghidella's opinion was that the "more likely" time when the compartment syndrome developed was during the immediate postoperative period through December 26, Ghidella RP at 54:9–15, the jury had evidence from which to conclude that at least one of Dr. Leone, Dr. Zech, or Dr. Douglas should have detected Grove's condition. Thus, if the syndrome began developing when Dr. Leone was in charge of Grove's care, then Dr. Leone, Dr. Zech, and Dr. Douglas are all responsible for failing to diagnose it. If it began when Dr. Zech was in charge, then Dr. Zech and Dr. Douglas are responsible. Indeed, even if Dr.

Ghidella's expert testimony were disbelieved and the compartment syndrome began only when Dr. Douglas was in charge, then Dr. Douglas would be responsible. In each case, Grove has proven duty, breach, and causation² as to at least one of the surgeons—and thus, by respondent superior, has proven those elements as to PeaceHealth too.

C. Review is warranted because the Court of Appeals' decision imposes a new and untenable standard of proof on injured patients.

Increasingly, medical treatment in the United States is provided by teams of providers. *See* Kenneth S. Abraham & Paul C. Weiler, *Enterprise Medical Liability and the Evolution of the American Health Care System*, 108 HARV. L. REV. 381, 413 (1994). Our state is no exception. In fact, one of Washington's most prominent healthcare organizations, Virginia Mason, has "team medicine" as its slogan.³

Washington courts, therefore, are certain to face more malpractice cases involving multiple providers. In many of these cases—and this case is one of them—the multiple providers have all committed negligence by omission. This fact should dispose of the Court of Appeals' worry that Grove could not lay the blame on only one particular provider. *See* App. A

The Court of Appeals nowhere intimated that Grove had failed to prove damages, the fourth element of a medical negligence claim.

See Virginia Mason, The Future of Health Care – Join Team Medicine at Virginia Mason, YouTube (Dec. 17, 2010), http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=xgK2v0Zqq_0.

at 12. After all, the very nature of Grove's claim—that each of the successive providers omitted to diagnose his condition—implicates all three providers. Moreover, the fact that one, two, or all of them might have been culpable should not be a barrier to PeaceHealth's vicarious liability, however, since all three surgeons were employed by PeaceHealth. By making it a barrier to liability, the Court of Appeals has created a standard of proof that has no basis in Washington law. This issue of substantial public interest warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

CONCLUSION

The decision below conflicts with this Court's decision in *Hansch* and establishes a new standard of proof for victims of medical negligence. Review is therefore warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(4).