RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Mar 10, 2014, 1:10 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

E COF
RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

NO. 89902-9

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

## RAYMOND GROVE,

Petitioner,

v.

#### PEACEHEALTH ST. JOSEPH HOSPITAL,

Respondent.

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Mary H. Spillane, WSBA #11981 Daniel W. Ferm, WSBA #11466 WILLIAMS, KASTNER & GIBBS PLLC Attorneys for Respondent PeaceHealth St. Joseph Hospital

Two Union Square 601 Union Street, Suite 4100 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 628-6600



#

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

#### III. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision, Which Is Premised on a Failure of Proof, Does Not Involve an Issue of Substantial Public Interest that Should Be Determined by the Supreme Court.

Mr. Grove sued under the health care provider malpractice statute, RCW 7.70.040, and accepted liability instructions patterned on it. This

was not a corporate negligence case. The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the dismissal of Mr. Grove's case because his malpractice claim against PeaceHealth was based on a "team malpractice" theory advanced without expert medical testimony identifying any team member's violation of a standard of care applicable to him or her, or establishing that any such team member's violation of standard of care applicable to him or her was a "but for" cause of Mr. Grove's injury.

Even if Mr. Grove had shown that some provider's omission was a breach of the standard of care applicable to that provider, the omission still could not be a "but for" cause of injury attributable to delayed intervention unless there also was expert medical testimony that compartment syndrome was diagnosable at the time of the omission and that a better outcome was still then possible. The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that Mr. Grove failed to offer expert testimony connecting all of those dots. A Court of Appeals' decision that a specific plaintiff's proof failed does not present and issue of substantial public interest so as to warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Mr. Grove argued repeatedly that his various providers had been members of a "team," but he proceeded to trial solely against a hospital and did not present evidence of a standard of care applicable specifically to hospitals. Nor has he argued on appeal that the trial court should have

instructed on a "corporate negligence" theory of liability. The viability of a "team malpractice" theory is not an issue of substantial public interest because, as the Court of Appeals explained, RCW 7.70.040, the health care provider malpractice statute under which Mr. Grove sued, will not accommodate a theory imposing liability for medical malpractice without proof that (among other propositions) at least one particular health care provider failed to meet the standard of care applicable to him or her.

# B. The Court of Appeals' Decision Applying RCW 7.70.040 Does Not Conflict with *Hansch v. Hackett*.

Mr. Grove argues, *Pet. at 12-15*, that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with this Court's decision in *Hansch v. Hackett*, 190 Wash. 97, 66 P.2d 1129 (1937). It does not. *Hansch* has not been good law since 1976, when the legislature enacted RCW 7.70.030 and 7.70.040. *Laws of 1975-76, 2d Ex. Sess., ch. 56, §§8-9.* "Chapter 7.70 RCW provides the exclusive remedy for damages for injuries resulting from health care." *Beggs v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 171 Wn.2d 69, 79, 247 P.3d 421 (2011) (citing *Branom v. State*, 94 Wn. App. 964, 969, 974 P.2d 355[, *rev. denied*, 138 Wn.2d 1023] (1999)). "In Washington, actions for injuries resulting from health care are governed by chapter 7.70 RCW," and a plaintiff alleging malpractice "must establish that the 'injury resulted from the failure of a health care provider to follow the accepted

standard of care." Miller v. Jacoby, 145 Wn.2d 65, 72, 33 P.3d 68 (2001). The common law applied in Hansch has been superseded by RCW 7.70.030(1)<sup>6</sup> and RCW 7.70.040.<sup>7</sup> Conflict with a superseded decision that is no longer binding authority is not the sort of conflict to which RAP 13.4(b)(1) refers.

Even if a conflict with *Hansch* would qualify the Court of Appeals' decision for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), the decisions do not conflict. *Hansch* did not address the issue of whether a "team malpractice" theory was viable in 1937. The evidence in *Hansch* was sufficient to enable the jury to find either of two particular nurses – "the nurse who received Mrs. Hansch at the hospital," or "the nurse in the maternity ward" – causally negligent. Thus, the Supreme Court's statement that the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Although a hospital may be sued directly, under a *corporate* negligence theory, *see*, e.g., *Douglas v. Freeman*, 117 Wn.2d 242, 248, 814 P.2d 1160 (1991), Mr. Grove did not argue below and does not argue in his petition that the jury should have been given some form of corporate negligence instruction to express a "team malpractice" theory.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> RCW 7.70.030(1) sets forth the first of three propositions, one or more of which a plaintiff must establish to recover in an action for damages for injury occurring as a result of health case: "(1) That injury resulted from the failure of a health care provider to followed the accepted standard of care...."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> RCW 7.70.040 provides:

The following shall be necessary elements of proof that injury resulted from the failure to follow the accepted standard of care:

<sup>(1)</sup> The health care provider failed to exercise that degree of care, skill, and learning expected of a reasonably prudent health care provider at that time in the profession or class to which he or she belongs, in the state of Washington, acting in the same or similar circumstances;

<sup>(2)</sup> Such failure was a proximate cause of the injury complained of.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Hansch, 190 Wash, at 101.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> *Id.* at 102.

hospital's liability in *Hansch* "would apply to negligence by any one of its officers, employees, or servants," *Hansch*, 190 Wash. at 102, signifies that the evidence permitted the jury to find that either or both of those two nurses were causally negligent, not that the hospital was properly held liable because a bad outcome occurred sometime during a period of time when hospital-employed nurses happened to have provided care to the patient.<sup>10</sup>

#### IV. CONCLUSION

It was plaintiff's responsibility to prove all elements of a claim under RCW 7.70.040. The trial court and Court of Appeals each had the responsibility to apply the law, not to save a claim that fell short legally and as a matter of proof. Both courts applied the law correctly. Review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (4).